

HALTON
SAFEGUARDING
ADULTS
BOARD

# Guidance on Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards – Community Settings

**Policy & Procedure** 

**July 2025** 

Policy, Performance and Customer Care Team

**Adult Social Care Adults Directorate** 

## **Contents**

Policy Summary	2
1. Introduction	3
2. Community DoLS	4
3. How a Community DoLS is identified?	4
4. Decision making representatives in Community DoLS arrangements	5
4.1 Rule 1.2 Representative	5
4.2 Litigation Friend	6
4.3 The difference between a 1.2 Representative and a Litigation Friend .	7
4.4 Who can be a 1.2 Representative or Litigation Friend?	7
4.5 How to become a 1.2 Representative or Litigation Friend	7
4.6 Financial Assistance for Litigation Friend/1.2 Representative	8
4.7 Ceasing to act as a Litigation Friend/1.2 Representative	9
5. Application to the CoP for a Community DoLS arrangement	9
6. Legal Process	10
7. Upon issue of a Court Order	10
8. Changes to a Community DoLS arrangement	11
9. Complaints Process	11
Appendices	13

## **Policy Summary**

Document name	Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards – Community Settings
Version	V5 130525
Publication date	July 2025
Review due date	July 2028
Approved by	Adult Social Care SMT
Status	Mandatory
Author	Katy Rushworth, Safeguarding & Dignity Officer
Contributors	Dean Tierney, Principal Manager Complex Care Runcorn and Transition Team
	Steve Westhead, Principal Manager Mental Health Team
	Sarah Foy, Principal Manager Complex Care Widnes
	Jayne Doran, Group Solicitor Legal Services
Service area	Adult Social Care
Target audience	Adult Social Care
Distribution	Adult Social Care
Related document(s)	Mental Capacity Act Policy
	Mental Capacity Act – Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Policy
Superseded document(s)	Guidance on Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards – Community Settings 2020
Equality Impact Assessment	Updated

If you require this policy or any associated documents in another format (e.g. other languages, easy-read or any other format), please email details of your requirements to:

ascservicedevelopment@halton.gov.uk.

#### 1. Introduction

In the UK, personal liberty is protected under the Human Rights Act 1998. Specifically, Article 5 refers to "the right to liberty and security" and focuses on protecting people from unreasonable detention and defends their personal freedoms.

There are instances however where illness; impairments or injury affects a person's decision making capacity to consent to care and treatment which is necessary to keep them safe from harm.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) are a legal framework under which a

person can be protected and safely cared for against their will because they lack the mental capacity to make decisions for themselves. A person can be deprived of their liberty in certain circumstances, provided set rules are followed and as a result of them being unable to consent to the care and support needed to keep them safe and well.

For information regarding DoLS for 16-17yr olds please refer to: Deprivation of Liberty Resource Guide

For those people living in residential care homes, nursing homes and hospital settings, the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) enacted in 2009 as amendments to the Mental Capacity Act 2005, provide the legal controls which ensure a person is properly represented, that arbitrary decisions are not made on their behalf and that they are not deprived of their liberty unless it is in their "best interests". The rigorous application process involved in the safeguards is in place to ensure that any deprivation is "necessary and proportionate" to the care and treatment required.

For DoLS, the Local Authority within which the deprivation is taking place, will act as the "Statutory Body" to authorise and oversee care arrangements. In some cases, the deprivation setting may be outside of the Local Authority area, known as an "out of borough placement", but where the subject of the DoLS is ordinarily resident in the borough.

A person is considered to be deprived of their liberty if they are restricted by their care package, where they live or how they are supported and are unable to take part in the decisions about these restrictions.

Case law in 2014 further defined an "acid test" of deprivation for those who lack mental capacity to consent to care and treatment, which asks:

- Are they free to leave the care/treatment setting?
- Are they subject to continuous supervision, monitoring and control?

This put a new threshold on what amounts to a deprivation and broadened the need to scrutinise other care systems and arrangements outside of those covered by DoLS. It meant that deprivation safeguards needed to be looked at in a wider context and in consideration of community settings where health and care provision

is delivered, such as in a person's own home or in a shared or supported living arrangement.

The process here involves an application to the Court of Protection (CoP) and possible court proceedings. Within Halton Borough Council, the Integrated Adults Safeguarding Unit (IASU) are able to support social work and assessment teams with these applications.

This guidance looks at situations where care and treatment is being given in a community setting which amounts to a deprivation of liberty. It looks at the identification of a need for the Community DoLS, what the process entails and the formal appointment of a decision maker who will represent the best interests of the cared for person.

For further information please see Mental Capacity Act 2005
Policy and Mental Capacity
Act – Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards Policy

## 2. Community DoLS

'Community DoLS' is an informal title given to the process under which a person can be lawfully deprived of their liberty in order that necessary care and treatment can be given in their best interests in a community setting.

It involves application to the Court of Protection (CoP) for an Order to be put in place for the person subject to the deprivation. This requires a review of the care and treatment arrangements and a judgement to see whether there is a less restrictive way of delivering support. For further information please see <u>Deprivation of Liberty</u>
<u>Orders</u>

In some cases, action being taken may not be in the person's best interests, and independent oversight will identify this and any changes required.

The Order appoints a responsible individual to oversee the decisions made about the

cared for person's health and welfare where they lack mental capacity to make those decisions for themselves.

Alternative arrangements can be brought to the CoP to look at decisions made about the financial affairs or property of a person who lacks capacity.

For further information please see Mental Capacity Act – Advance Planning and HBC Appointeeship & Deputyship Scheme Policy and Court of Protection

## 3. How a Community DoLS is identified?

Once an organisation identifies that a person may meet the acid test, it is their responsibility to inform the local authority of this. Usually a person's care manager (social worker or healthcare professional) would assess whether the "acid test" threshold has been met and whether they think that an application to the CoP is required.

It is also permissible for the care setting to identify a need for more formal arrangements themselves and for the Council to then take forward this referral. This again, would be done by the relevant service supporting the individual e.g. a social worker in care and assessment teams.

Where the Council is the commissioner of a publicly funded, community-based service (including packages of care and any residential placements) it is their legal responsibility to ensure that deprivations are not being made unlawfully. If the person is fully funded by health, then Continuing Health Care (CHC) are responsible.

## 4. Decision making representatives in Community DoLS arrangements

This Community DoLS process requires a close relative, friend or paid advocate to represent the cared for person. The Court refers to the role of the representative as either a "Rule 1.2 Representative" or a "Litigation Friend".

In most cases, the deprivation process involves an application to the CoP where the representative does not need to attend a hearing, they are known as the "Rule 1.2 Representative". If for any reason a court hearing is necessary, the role may then be referred to as "Litigation Friend".

#### 4.1 Rule 1.2 Representative

The role of the 1.2 Representative is to oversee a person's care and support needs and advises the Court on their "best interests". Best interests ensure that the cared for person has had their views, wishes, values and prior decisions taken into account when a decision is made or action is taken about their care and support.

The 1.2 Representative can stipulate whether they agree or do not agree that the Court should authorise the deprivation of liberty needs and arrangements that have arisen as part of the person's package of care and support.

#### The role includes:

- a) Reviewing and considering what is in the person's best interests taking into account any views the person may have expressed in the past, any beliefs or values they are aware the person holds and any other matters they consider relevant to the circumstances. They must not represent their own views but views on behalf of the person
- b) Ensuring the care being provided is meeting the person's needs; maintaining regular contact with the person to check this
- c) Ensuring the care provided is the least restrictive option available and challenging decisions if considered inappropriate or disproportionate to needs

- d) Considering the pros and cons of the package of care and support and other available options
- e) Keeping the care package under review and raising any points relating to the arrangements, changes in the person's behaviour or health with the Court
- f) Considering the application paperwork submitted by the Social Worker (or other professional) representing Halton Borough Council (HBC) ensuring it is accurate and that they agree with the content. This involves highlighting any matters that they feel needs clarification or change, discussing matters with the person as far as possible, in support of the application and if the matter can be considered without the

For further information please see Section 2 of The Court of Protection Rules 2017

needs for a hearing, ensuring that they have determined with the person whether they want to take part in proceedings and if they do raise this with HBC and include details in the witness statement to the Court (See section 4.5)

## 4.2 Litigation Friend

A Litigation Friend is the name given to an appointed person when the Court feels that a cared for person can be involved in the Court process directly. They are regarded as an "Officer of the Court".

The Litigation Friend will take the place of the person in the court process and will be able to give instruction to the person's solicitor, if they have one.

#### A Litigation Friend must:

- a) Consider whether the person has the capacity to make decisions in terms of the Court Proceedings and of not make decisions that are in the best interests of the person in respect to those proceedings
- b) Make every attempt to communicate with the person about what is happening in the case. Litigation Friends can progress a case that the person themselves does not currently agree with provided they have considered all relevant factors and care of the view that what they progress is in the best interests of the person
- c) Potentially pay costs if ordered by the Court

d) Attend Court and possibly speak to the Judge on behalf of the person.

A Litigation Friend can instruct a solicitor, and legal aid funding may be available based on the financial means of the person subject to the application (NOT the Litigation Friends' means)

A solicitor can advise the Litigation Friend but it is still the Litigation Friend's role to make the decisions about how to progress the case on behalf of the person receiving care and support.

For further information please see Litigation Friends

#### 4.3 The difference between a 1.2 Representative and a Litigation Friend

1.2 Representatives are more appropriate for matters which are more straightforward and do not require ongoing court proceedings. 1.2 Representatives will most likely be appointed in the streamlined process for applications to the Court of Protection in respect of Deprivation of Liberty.

For more complex cases where matters are in dispute and will require ongoing court proceedings, it is envisaged that a Litigation Friend is more appropriate.

The Local Authority will review the case and form a view on which type of representative is required, however, the final decisions will rest with the Court.

#### 4.4 Who can be a 1.2 Representative or Litigation Friend?

No specialist training or legal expertise is required. The individual must be:

- ❖ 18 years old or over
- Actively involved with the person and have detailed knowledge of them
- **❖** Able to act in the person's best interests and act competently and fairly
- Agree to act for the person

They must **not have** any interest that is adverse to the person (e.g. a financial stakeholder for the care agency delivering the person's care).

Within Halton Borough Council's processes, a 1.2 Representative or Litigation Friend may be appointed as part of an advocacy arrangement. This would involve a paid "advocate" being employed on the person's behalf where no other person is able to represent their needs. If an advocate is required a referral needs to be made to Healthwatch.

#### 4.5 How to become a 1.2 Representative or Litigation Friend

If a person is identified to act in either of these roles by HBC, details must be included within the application to Court.

Before being appointed:-

#### 1.2 Representative

The Court may ask for a Witness Statement which provides information in the person's past and present wishes and feelings.

This is completed on the **COP24 form** which includes:

- ❖ Details of who you are including your relationship to the person subject to the application
- **❖** So far as possible:
  - The person's past and present wishes and feelings
  - Beliefs and values of the person that would likely influence their decisions if they have capacity
  - If you support the application and your reasons for doing so
  - Whether a formal hearing is required because the person wishes to see the Judge or take part in the proceedings
  - Whether a formal hearing is required due to disputes concerning the arrangements, setting out the reasons for lack of support or opposition to the arrangements
  - Any comments about the person's capacity to make decisions about their own care arrangement
  - Any other comments in particular, matters which will assist the Court to determine that the package of care and support is the least restrictive option available

For further information please also see Appendix 2 – Content of the Witness Statement and Appendix 3 – How to draft the Witness Statement

#### **Litigation Friend**

The Court may ask for a Certificate of Suitability (Form N235) to be completed.

#### 4.6 Financial Assistance for Litigation Friend/1.2 Representative

Legal aid funding may be available for this support. Any funding would be to support the subject of the court proceedings (i.e. the cared for person) if they do not have the means to fund this themselves. This is normally accessed through a solicitor who has been instructed on behalf of a cared for person, however, the social worker supporting the case should take guidance from Legal Services through the Legal Access Pathway (LAP) (please see Section 6).

Court costs may be ordered against the 1.2 Representative/Litigation Friend where the individual in that role acts unreasonably or not in the person's best interests.

#### 4.7 Ceasing to act as a Litigation Friend/1.2 Representative

This requires a further application to the Court using a <u>COP9 form</u>.

If the person subject to the application dies, the arrangement will end automatically.

If the person subject to the application is no longer deprived of their liberty, HBC will inform the Court who will then order the Litigation Friend/1.2 Representative to be removed from their role, provided the Court feels this is appropriate.

## 5. Application to the CoP for a Community DoLS arrangement

Within Halton, where a need for a Community DoLS is identified (where the person meets the "acid test" and is not in 24 hour care or hospital) the appropriate social worker would complete the DoLS screening tool to determine RAG rating.

A Community DoLS applies to all people who may meet the acid test in supported living, community settings and their own homes (including living with family) and where:

- The person has been assessed as lacking capacity to make a decision, regarding their care and support needs
- The care and support needs are met by the Local Authority (e.g. Care Act, s117 Aftercare)
- ❖ The person meets the acid test (not free to leave and under constant supervision and control)

The initial requirement for instigating a Community DoLS process involves an assessment of capacity. Where lack of mental capacity is established, a letter must be issued to the GP of the person in receipt of care and support, to inform them of the assessment and outcome (please see Appendix 3).

Where applicable an application to the CoP for a Community DoLS arrangement would then follow on from assessment of capacity. This requires a COP3 Form: Make a report on someone's capacity to make decisions to be completed.

From here, the relevant social care professional would work through the 'DoLS – CoP Screening tool and Authorisation form' on the Council's case file management system Eclipse.

The form requires further Court of Protection details to be completed and saved to Eclipse. This includes:

❖ COP24 – Witness Statement (as set out in Section 4.5 and Appendix 1 and 2)

Please see Appendix 10 for

For further information please see The Law Society Identifying a Deprivation of Liberty: A practical guide

Chapter 8: Supporting Living

For further information please

see Mental Capacity Act 2005

Policy

Chapter 9: In own home

Eclipse process

#### ❖ COPDOL11 – Application to authorise a deprivation of liberty

Once all paperwork is completed, the case is presented to the Council's Social Care Legal Team for submission.

#### 6. Legal Process

An application to the Court of Protection for a Community DoLS arrangement is processed in Halton, through the Social Care Legal Team.

Following assessment of lack of capacity and establishment of a need to submit an application for a Community DoLS arrangement, all relevant paperwork is completed. This can then be submitted to the Council's Social Care Legal Team who will scrutinise the paperwork and feedback to the social care professional if further input is required or any additional information is needed.

Once the Social Care Legal Team are satisfied that everything is in place, they will prepare and submit court papers with the appropriate fees.

Where a case involves complications (for example, a disagreement on the care and support arrangements) and in particular, where there needs to be Council representation at court proceedings, a LAP meeting may be convened.

This may be convened by the Legal Team who will ask the social care professional referring the case, to submit further details on the LAP forms. Alternatively, it may be requested by the social care professional in foresight of the complexities of the case.

The LAP can be used to refer any adult social care case to Halton Borough Council's Social Care Legal Team for support (and not just Community DoLS applications). It involves consideration of prioritisation of the case and what level of involvement is required from Legal Services. The process is set out in the <a href="Legal Access Pathway">Legal Access Pathway</a> <a href="Policy.">Policy.</a>

For straightforward applications, once the Court Order is confirmed Legal Services will notify the social care professional involved in the case.

Legal Services in Halton currently keep a tracking system to monitor the throughput of Community DoLS applications. This should be used to monitor ongoing resource requirements. It will also serve as a documentation process to highlight complex cases back to the Adult Social Care Senior Management Team, to ensure they retain oversight of cases impacting on services.

## 7. Upon issue of a Court Order

Following the issue of a Court Order authorising the Community DoLS arrangement, the social care professional supporting the case will:

- ❖ Hand deliver (where appropriate and practicable) the sealed Court Order to the relevant parties – including the service user subject to the deprivation, the care setting responsible for enforcing the deprivation, the 1.2 Representative/Litigation Friend and any other relevant persons
- Update the Eclipse checklist to reflect the legal status of the case

The procedure for application to the Court of Protection for a Community DoLS arrangement is further set out in Appendix 4.

#### 8. Changes to a Community DoLS arrangement

A Community DoLS arrangement will come to an end if the subject of the deprivation dies. In relation to Halton Borough Council processes, the usual "Deceased" notice must be captured against the service user records on Eclipse.

Section 4.7 sets out the processes for termination of a 1.2 Representative/Litigation Friend role.

Where there is an Order in place and changes to the care and support arrangements are proposed, the Court of Protection must approve these changes. In the first instance, this will involve a <u>Legal Access Pathway</u> (LAP) meeting to be convened.

If the loss of mental capacity was temporary and the cared for person regains capacity, this change must also be approved by the Court.

Within Eclipse, the relevant team are required to complete a screening of the person who meeting the acid test/court order every 6 months. This will ensure there is regular review of the arrangements and also help track any cases that require a more urgent response or change in need/circumstance.

## 9. Complaints Process

Any complaint directly related to HBC process, procedure or personnel (involved in a Community DoLS arrangement for an adult resident of the Borough) should be made in line with the <u>Resolving Complaints and Improving Services Policy</u>.

Complaints about the arrangements themselves should be made via the Court of Protection on the <u>Form EX343A: Complaints Form</u>.

## 10. Adult Social Care Tracker Meeting

Tracking legal cases has not been formalised within Adult Social Care. This is in addition to the agreed Legal Access Pathway process for seeking legal advice. The Adult Social Care (ASC) Tracker Meeting is an attempt to track all requests that either:

- Need to go to the Court of Protection for a decision
- Need to go to the High Court for a decision
- All Community DoLS Applications streamlined and domestic settings
- All S16 Welfare Applications
- All Ordinary Residence

The ASC Tracker Meeting will be held monthly to track all cases and ensure there is no drift from either the adult social care or legal perspective. The meeting will ensure there is management oversight of cases that require progression through legal support.

#### The ASC Tracker meeting will aim to:

- Provide ASC Management oversight and scrutiny on cases either sat with Legal or have been authorised by the Court of Protection
- Provide advice and guidance
- Ensure that agreed protocols and guidance remain in place and if needed, are reviewed on a regular basis
- Monitor identified and emerging risks and advise on their prevention, mitigation and management
- Provide consistency to ASC and Legal Services
- Discuss new or ongoing cases which may need escalation

The role of the individual members of ASC Tracker Meetings include:

- Attending regular meetings as required and actively participate in the meeting
- Provide specialist support and advice
- Provide scrutiny and up to date information on cases listed
- Review and provide feedback on any new developments
- Prepare accordingly for timely response to enquiries made
- Ensure information brought to the meeting is accurate and up to date
- Respect each member's professional role and allow for challenge/discussion if needed
- Have a genuine interest in achieving a well-established ASC Tracker Meeting
- ❖ Be committed to, and actively involved in, pursuing positive outcomes and rights based approaches
- ❖ If any concerns are identified, for members to be able to share these within the meeting

## **Appendices**

Appendix Number	Title	Document
1	Community DoLS Guidance Note (HBC)	appendix 1 - Community DoLS guic
2	Content of the Witness Statement	Appendix 2 - Content of the Witness Statem
3	How to draft the Witness Statement	Appendix 3 - How to draft the Witness Stat
4	Community DoLS process flowchart	Appendix 4 - Community DoLS Proc
5	Letter to GP re: unsound mind diagnosis	Appendix 5 - Letter to GP re unsoundness
6	Mental Capacity Act Care, Residence, Finances & Tenancy PowerPoint presentation	Appendix 6 - MCA care residence finance
7	COP3 Form	Appendix 7 - COP3 Form.pdf

8	COP DoL 11 Form	Appendix 8 - COP DoL11 Form.pdf
9	COP 24 Form	Appendix 9 - COP24 Form.pdf
10	Eclipse process	Appendix 10 - Eclipse process.docx
11	ASC Tracker Meeting Terms of Reference	Appendix 11 ASC Tracker Meeting Term
12	ASC Tracker Meeting Agenda Template	Appendix 12 ASC Tracker Meeting - Ag